#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**CURTIS HOGAN** 

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-KA-2012-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

# CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Curtis Hogan, Appellant
- 3. Honorable Laurence Y. Mellen, District Attorney
- 4. Honorable Kenneth L. Thomas, Circuit Court Judge

This the  $\frac{157}{}$  day of  $\frac{1}{}$  day of  $\frac{1}{}$ , 2010.

Respectfully Submitted,

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

# I. THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Bolivar County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for sale of cocaine entered against Curtis Aster Hogan. (Tr. 65, C.P. 26, 28-34, R.E. \*\*). The trial court sentenced Hogan to twelve (12) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with six (6) years suspended. (Tr. 73, C.P. 28-34, R.E. \*\*). The trial court denied Hogan's motion for JNOV or, in the alternative, motion for a new trial. (C.P. 35-36, 40, R.E. \*\*). Hogan is presently incarcerated and now appeals to this Honorable Court for relief.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 22, 2009, Officer Joe Smith, a narcotics investigator with the Bolivar County Sheriff's Office, met with confidential informant Michael Cox in order to attempt a controlled drug buy from a man known as "Apple." (Tr. 18, 22, 38-39). At the time, Cox was working with police in connection with a pending drug charge against him. (Tr. 53-54). Officer Smith testified that he searched Cox's person and vehicle; however, he did not testify as to the details/extent of the search. (Tr. 18-19, 39). Cox was wired with audio/video surveillance equipment and given \$100 before leaving on his motorcycle to attempt the purchase in Alligator, Mississippi, a few miles away. (Tr. 18-22, 39). While at the pre-buy location, Cox received a phone call, allegedly from Hogan. (Tr. 19-20, 39-40). Cox told the caller that he wanted \$100 worth of "hard"—more commonly known as crack cocaine. (Tr. 40-41).

Officer Smith did not follow Cox; he stayed at the pre-buy location and waited for Cox to return. (Tr. 21). To this end, Officer Smith admitted that he could not tell what Cox was doing, and he could only conclude that Cox made a purchase by reviewing the video tape when Cox returned and trusting that Cox's statement was true. (Tr. 21, 27). Curiously, the video tape shows Cox make two detours on the way to meet the seller. (Ex. S-1). First, he pulled into a service station and rode around the parking lot slowly, passing by several parked cars and bystanders before returning to course. (Ex. S-1 at 09:30). Shortly thereafter, Cox pulled into a housing complex, drove slowly by a parked car with a man in the driver's seat and a another man standing outside the car, and told the men "I'll be right back" as he drove away. (Ex. S-1 at 11.50). At trial, Cox offered no explanation as to the reason for these detours or the identity of the persons he spoke to.

After leaving the housing complex, Cox pulled over to the shoulder of the road and made a phone call, presumably to the seller, who, according to Cox "was not where he said he would be."

(Tr. 41). Cox testified that the seller told him to meet him nearby. (Tr. 43). Cox then pulled into a gravel parking area outside a mobile home, where a man was sitting in the driver's seat of a gray four-door car, and another man was seated in the passenger seat. (Tr. 43, Ex. S-1 at 14:00). Cox testified that he rode his motorcycle right beside the door of the car, and he exchanged the \$100 for the substance without getting off of his bike. (Tr. 43-44). However, the video shows Cox park his motorcycle, get off of it, and walk over to the car. (Ex. S-1 at 14:09).

The video shows Cox hand what appears to be money to the man in the passenger seat. (Ex. S-1 at 14:30). Significantly, however, the video shows no drugs (or anything appearing to be drugs) being exchanged. (Ex. S-1 at 14:30).

Cox then drove back to the pre-buy/post-buy location and handed Officer Smith a substance that appeared to be crack cocaine. (Tr. 22, 44, 47). Officer Smith did not field test the substance, and he did not seal the bag in which he placed the substance until he returned to the police department. (Tr. 34). At this post-buy meeting, Officer Smith searched Cox's person and motorcycle, and Cox returned the audio-video equipment; Cox also gave a statement describing the seller as a black male, approximately thirty-five (35) years old, weighing approximately two hundred (200) pounds, with "cornrows" in his hair. (Tr. 22, 31, 44-46). Cox testified that he told Officer Smith that the man who sold him the substance was called "Apple," and he admitted at trial that he did not know Apple's real name at the time of the alleged buy. (Tr. 45). Hogan was arrested the following day; at the police station he weighed in at two hundred thirty-five (235) pounds and police learned that he was only twenty-eight (28) years old. (Tr. 32).

Officer Smith took the audio-video equipment back to his office, copied it to a DVD, and reviewed it. (Tr. 25-26, Ex. S-1). He later took the recovered substance to the Mississippi Crime Laboratory where forensic scientist Eric Frazure tested the substance and concluded that it contained

cocaine, although, Frazure could not testify as to whether the substance was powder cocaine ("cocaine salt") or crack rock cocaine ("free base form cocaine"). (Tr. 7-10, 23).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The verdict in this case was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, which failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Hogan was guilty of the charge of sale of cocaine. The video showed money exchanged, yet it did not show any drugs exchanged. Additionally, the testimony of the paid informant, who had a previous drug charge himself, was suspect and inconsistent with the video of the alleged buy, which showed Cox make two unexplained detours on the way to the buy, during one of which he drove slowly by, and closely to, a parked car and two men in/around it and told them "I'll be back." Furthermore, Cox's description of the seller was inconsistent with Hogan, and Cox admitted that he did not know the seller's real name at the time of the buy. Allowing the verdict to stand on this evidence would manifest an extreme injustice.

## **ARGUMENT**

# I. THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Trial counsel's motion for J.N.O.V. or in the alternative motion for new trial specifically argued that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. (C.P. 35-36, R.E. \*\*). The trial judge denied this motion. (C.P. 40, R.E. \*\*). As explained in detail below, the trial judge erred in failing to grant Hogan's motion for a new trial.

In reviewing a challenge to the weight of the evidence, the verdict may be disturbed "when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005) (citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So. 2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997)). The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to

the verdict. *Id.* This Court "sits as a hypothetical thirteenth juror." *Lamar v. State*, 983 So. 2d 364, 367 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Bush*, 895 So. 2d at 844 (¶18)). "If, in this position, the Court disagrees with the verdict of the jury, 'the proper remedy is to grant a new trial." *Id*.

In the instant case, the video tape of the alleged buy shows money changing hands, however, it does not show drugs (or anything appearing to be drugs) being exchanged. (Ex. S-1 at 14:30). Officer Smith—who remained at the pre-buy location—admitted that he could not tell what Cox was doing from the time he left until he returned. Also, although Officer Smith testified that he searched Cox, the evidence did not establish that Cox's search was thorough. Because Cox's testimony was the only evidence that a drug sale actually occurred at the time alleged, his trustworthiness was absolutely essential to the case.

However, the record reflects that Cox's testimony was highly suspect and inconsistent with the video recording of the alleged buy. For instance, Cox testified that he pulled up to the window of the seller's car and never got off of his motorcycle during the alleged transaction; however, the video clearly shows Cox get off of his bike and walk over to the car. More curious however, the video shows Cox make two unexplained detours on the way to the attempted buy. He first pulled slowly through the parking lot of a service station; shortly thereafter, he pulled into the parking lot of a housing complex and drove slowly by, and closely to, a parked car and told two men in/around the car that he would be right back. Furthermore, Cox admittedly did not know the real name of the person who allegedly sold him the substance, and Cox's description of the seller—approximately thirty-five (35) years old, weighing approximately two hundred (200) pounds—was not consistent with Hogan, who was only twenty-eight (28) years old and weighed in at two hundred thirty-five (235) pounds. (Tr. 32, 45-46).

Ordinarily, the jury weighs the credibility of each witness. Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 812

(Miss. 1987). However, this Court may set aside a jury verdict when, sitting "as the 'thirteenth juror,'

the court simply disagrees with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony." Bush, 895 So. 2d

at 844 (¶18) (citing McQueen v. State, 423 So. 2d 800, 803 (Miss.1982)). "This difference of

opinion does not signify acquittal any more than a disagreement among the jurors themselves.

Instead, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial." *Id.* (internal citation omitted).

Accordingly, Hogan respectfully submits that the verdict in the instant case was against the

overwhelming weight of the evidence, and this Court should reverse his conviction and sentence and

remand this case for a new trial.

**CONCLUSION** 

Based on the propositions briefed and the authorities cited above, together with any plain

error noticed by the Court which has not been specifically raised, Hogan respectfully submits that

he is entitled to have this Honorable Court reverse his conviction and sentence for sale of cocaine

and remand this case for a new trial.