IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CURTIS ASTER HOGAN

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-2012-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR N

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
CORROBORATED EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE VERDICT
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

.

STATE CASES

Doby v. State, 532 So. 2d 584, 591 (Miss. 1988)
Esparaza v. State, 595 So. 2d 418, 426 (Miss. 1992)11
Fisher v. State, 481 So. 2d 203, 212 (Miss. 1985)11
Hammond v. State, 465 So. 2d 1031, 1035 (Miss. 1985)11
Harveston v. State, 493 So. 2d 365, 370 (Miss. 1986)11
Jackson v. State, 580 So. 2d 1217, 1219 (Miss. 1991)
Jones v. State , 635 So. 2d 884, 887 (Miss. 1994)12
McClain v. State, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993)7, 11
Neal v. State, 451 So. 2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1984)11
Ragland v. State, 403 So. 2d 146 (Miss. 1981)
Spikes v. State, 302 So. 2d 250, 251 (Miss. 1974)11
Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 812 (Miss. 1987)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CURTIS ASTER HOGAN

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-2012-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

PROCEDURAL HISTORY:

On November 20, 2009, Curtis Aster Hogan,"Hogan" was tried for sale of cocaine before a Bolivar County Circuit Court jury, the Honorable Kenneth L. Thomas presiding. R. 1. Hogan was found guilty and given a sentence of twelve years with six years suspended in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. R. 73.

From that conviction, Hogan, through counsel, filed notice of appeal. C.P. 43-46.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

WAS THERE CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL CORROBORATED EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE CONVICTION?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 23, 2009, Curtis Hogan was indicted for sale of cocaine in Bolivar County on or about April 23, 2009. C.P. 3.

On November 20, 2009, Curtis Aster Hogan was tried for sale of cocaine before a Bolivar County Circuit Court jury, the Honorable Kenneth L. Thomas presiding. R. 1. Hogan was represented by Mr. Raymond Wong. R. 1.

Mr. Eric Frazure with the Mississippi Crime Laboratory in Batesville testified that he examined state's exhibit S-1. R. 7. Mr. Frazure determined by several scientific tests that this substance was cocaine, 1.2 grams. R. 9. He was cross examined about which tests he used, what procedures he followed, what quality control tests he and his laboratory had passed and who was his supervisor. R. 11-14.

Officer Joe Smith, a narcotics investigator with the Bolivar County Sheriff's office, testified that he was involved in setting up "a controlled buy" of cocaine. R. 16-17. A confidential informant named Mr. Michael Cox was the person with whom he was working. R. 18. The informant was searched and his vehicle, which was a motorcycle. R. 18-20.

Officer Smith testified that the informant was fitted with an audio and video camera. R. 18-19. Smith testified to hearing the informant receive a telephone call. Smith could only hear Cox's conversation on his receiving end of his cell phone. R. 19.

He heard Cox ask for some "hard." This was slang for crack cocaine. R. 20. He was speaking to someone referred to as "Apple." R. 22. Smith checked Cox's cell phone. It showed the call had come from telephone number, "662-719-6319." R. 19. Smith provided Cox with "\$100.00" for purchasing the alleged cocaine. R. 20.

Smith testified that when Cox returned to the post buy location, he was searched again. Cox

had a rock like substance which he believed to be cocaine. Smith collected this evidence and labeled it. R. 32. He did not seal the bag containing the evidence on site because the heat sealing equipment was left at this office. R. 37.

Smith also collected the audio and video equipment concealed on the informant. That equipment included a recorded tape made of the alleged sale of cocaine. R. 25. Smith testified that tape was downloaded to a computer. It was copied as "a DVD," meaning it contained not only moving visual images shown in real time, but also a continuous sound recording of everything that occurred.

This included Smith's conversation with Cox prior to the sale, Cox's receiving a phone call, the sound of Cox's motor cycle, and , of course, the sound of the suspect's and Cox's voices during the alleged sale. Smith testified that the DVD made from the tape had not been "changed or altered in any way." R. 25.

Officer Smith also testified that from the DVD images on the unaltered tape, he made still photographs of the alleged suspect, state's exhibit 2.

Officer Smith testified that Cox described the suspect as being "a Black male" with "corn rows" or braids in his hair. R. 31. He estimated his age as about thirty-five and his weight as about two hundred.

Officer Smith was cross examined about why he used this informant, and whether he was being paid for his cooperation. Smith testified that Cox was not paid for his assistance in setting up the controlled buy. R. 33-37. He was also cross examined about why he did not personally field test the substance, or heat seal it at the post buy site. On redirect, Smith testified that he did not have the equipment to heat seal the bag the suspected cocaine was contained in until he returned to his office. R. 37.

Mr. Cox testified that he worked with Officers Smith and Moore on the date in question. He and his motorcycle were searched . He was given "\$100.00." He received a call from Hogan whom he knew at that time only as "Apple." R. 39-40.

Apple informed him that he was in the nearby town of Alligator. Cox told "Apple" he wanted \$100.00 worth of "hard." This was slang for crack cocaine.

Mr. Cox was fitted with a concealed video and audio camera. This was prior to and in preparation of the alleged sell. R. 39. See state's exhibit 1 in manila envelop for DVD in container plastic box.

When inserted into a computer, it shows the images of the alleged cocaine purchase. Cox can be seen and heard on the DVD. Cox is seen going down a dirt road on his motorcycle to Alligator, Bolivar County. This along with the sounds of the transaction were on the DVD tape shown to the jury. R. 50. See state's exhibit 1, an audio and video DVD of the alleged cocaine purchase in manila envelop marked "Exhibits."

Cox testified that he did not see Apple at the place mentioned on the phone for the sale. To locate him, he called the same telephone number "662- 719-6319" from which he had previously been contacted. R.19; 42. He was told by the voice on the phone to go "around the corner from the railroad track in Alligator. " R. 43.

Mr. Cox testified that he met a man sitting in "a gray four door car." The suspect was still behind the steering wheel when Cox handed him "\$100.00." Apple handed him what looked like crack cocaine. R. 43.

Mr. Cox identified Hogan as the person from whom he received the telephone call in Officer Smith's presence. R. 39-40. Cox believed the substance he purchased for \$ 100.00 to be crack cocaine. R. 44. Cox told Smith that the "black male" suspect had his hair "in corn rows." R. 46. Cox testified that "state's exhibit 2" was an accurate still photograph of the suspect. This was a photograph taken at the time he opened his car door. He then exchanged the \$100.00 given him for the alleged crack cocaine. R. 48. It was a four door gray car as shown in the photograph.

This still photograph was made from the DVD tape of the alleged cocaine purchase. It was also introduced into evidence and shown to the jury. R. 50. See state's exhibit 2 for still photograph of suspect, developed from video tape, state's exhibit 1.

Mr. Cox testified that he reviewed the DVD video/audio tape, exhibit 1, taken of the alleged cocaine sale in Alligator. He testified that it was true and "accurate as to what happened" that day. R. 50.

State's exhibit 2 was a still photograph. It was developed from the video portion of the DVD taken of the alleged cocaine sale. It shows the face of "a black male" with a "corn row" hair style. He is sitting in a four door gray car. State's exhibit 3 was a photograph of "a heat sealed plastic bag" containing "a rock substance believed to be cocaine."

This was the substance submitted to the Batesville Crime Laboratory for identification. It was tested scientifically and found to be cocaine. These exhibits along with the DVD make from the video on the informant are contained in the manila envelop marked "Exhibits."

Mr. Cox was cross examined about his pending narcotics violation charge. He was asked about his motivation for cooperating with law enforcement, and whether his legal insecurities influenced his testimony in this case. Mr. Cox admitted a pending drug charge against him, but "that did not change" in any way what he testified to before the jury. R. 56.

The trial court denied a motion for a direct verdict. R. 57-58.

After being advised of his right to testify, Mr. Hogan chose not to testify in his own behalf. R. 59.

5

Mr. Hogan was found guilty and given a sentence of twelve years with six years suspended in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. R. 65; 73.

The trial court denied Hogan's motion for new trial. C.P. 35-36.

From that conviction, Hogan, through counsel, filed notice of appeal. C.P. 43-46.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There was credible, substantial partially corroborated evidence in support of Hogan's conviction.
McClain v. State, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993). The informant identified Hogan as the person from whom he purchased cocaine of April 23, 2009. R. 40; 53. The alleged crack cocaine returned to law enforcement from the informant was identified by scientific tests as being cocaine. R. 6; 23; 44. The still photograph of the suspect's face in the car can be clearly seen. It shows "the black male" suspect's hair in braids or "corn rows." This was how Cox described him the day of the sale. R. 46. It also shows the suspect in "a gray car", as testified to by the informant. R. 43.

The informant, Mr. Cox, was corroborated by testimony from Officer Smith. Smith testified to hearing Cox ask someone on his cell phone for some "hard," slang for cocaine. R. 19-20. He testified that telephone number "662-719-6319" was used by someone who called Mr. Cox.

Mr. Cox testified he called this same telephone number in Alligator. This was necessary since he could not locate the suspect in the place previously mentioned for the sale. R. 42. After a call to that number, Cox testified he found the suspect, "Apple." He then purchased what appeared to him to be cocaine. R. 43.

Mr. Cox testified that the audio, video tape of the sale of apparent cocaine was "accurate as to what happened."R. 48. It was shown "on a screen" in the court room to the jury. R. 50- 51.

There was more than sufficient partially, corroborated testimony in support of Hogan's conviction. **Doby v. State**, 532 So. 2d 584, 591 (Miss. 1988). There was no "injustice" involved in denying his motion for a new trial. **Wetz v. State**, 503 So. 2d 803, 812 (Miss. 1987).

7

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL PARTIALLY CORROBORATED EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE VERDICT.

Mr. Hogan argues that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. He argues that while the video showed money actually being exchanged, it did not show any identifiable drugs being received by Cox. Hogan argues that the informant, Michael Cox's testimony, was inconsistent in some ways with the video shown to the jury. He also argues that Cox's own pending drug charge made his testimony suspect. Cox's description of the suspect was also different from Hogan's actual age, height, weight. Appellant's brief page 4-7.

To the contrary, the appellee would submit there was sufficient, credible, partially corroborated testimony in support of Hogan's conviction for sale of cocaine on April 23, 2009. Hogan was identified as by Cox, the informant, as the person from whom he purchased cocaine. R. 40; 52-53.

Q. Mr. Cox, the person who you actually made that buy from, that you said a few minutes ago you identified that you passed the hundred dollars to him and he gave you the cocaine, is that person in the courtroom?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Mitchell: Your Honor, we would ask that the record reflect that this witness had identified the defendant as the person he bought cocaine from.

Court: For the second time, ordered. R. 52-53. (Emphasis by appellee).

This identification came after the contents of a DVD, exhibit S-1, was shown on a screen to the jury. R.50-51. During that testimony, Cox identified the man who could be seen exchanging something from inside his car for a \$100.00 as being Hogan. R. 51. At the time of the purchase,

Cox knew the seller as "Apple."

Q. Can you tell us what was on the screen right there, what was happening there?

A. I handed him the hundred dollars.

Q. Who is it that you handed the hundred dollars to?

A. Mr. Hogan. R. 51. (Emphasis by appellee).

Mr. Cox testified that the man who sold him the cocaine was "a black man" who had his hair in "corn rows" or braids. R. 46.

Q. Will you tell us then what description you gave them-

A. I told them it was a Black male.

Q. What did you tell them about what his hair looked like?

A. I told them it was in corn rows. R. 46. (Emphasis by appellee).

The jury was shown a photograph of a man sitting behind a steering wheel. It was a four door "gray car." The man sitting in the grey car had his hair in braids, or "corn rows," which the jury also observed. This was state's exhibit 2. This is in addition to their viewing images of the suspect on a screen in the court room. R. 50-51.

See state's exhibit 2 a photo taken from the tape, showing the suspect's braided hair. The man is sitting behind the steering wheel of "a gray car." R. 48. Cox testified that this photograph taken from the video recorder concealed on his person was "accurate as to what happened" at the alleged purchase of cocaine. R. 48.

Officer Joe Smith's testimony corroborated Mr. Cox's testimony. R. 16-38.

Officer Smith was present when he heard Mr. Cox receive a telephone call. R. 19. This was when he was being fitted with concealed audio and video equipment. Smith heard Cox request some "hard." R. 20. This was slang for crack cocaine. Smith also testified that by looking at Cox's cell

phone, he determined the incoming call came from telephone number, "662-719-6319." R. 19.

Officer Smith also corroborated Cox in testifying that he received what appeared to be crack cocaine. R. 22. This was when Cox returned from "the controlled buy." Mr. Cox was searched a second time along with his motorcycle. R. 22.

Officer Smith received the substance, labeled it, and returned it to his office. There is was placed in a plastic bag which was "heat sealed." R. 37. It was then taken to the Crime Laboratory in Batesville where it was tested scientifically for its chemical identity. It was identified by monitored scientific tests at the Crime Lab as being cocaine, 1.2 grams. R. 9.

On redirect while Mr. Cox admitted to having pending drug charges, he testified that these charges did not effect his testimony in the instant cause. Cox testified that he testified about what actually happened with Hogan on the date in question. R. 56.

Q. The fact that you had been charged, did that change what you said took place that day?

A. No, ma'am. R. 56. (Emphasis by appellee).

As to the inaccuracies of the description of Hogan, the record and the video indicates that the only contact Cox had with Apple was when he was sitting behind a steering wheel of "a gray car." R. 43. This would make it difficult to determine a person's weight and height. However, Cox described "the black male" as having a "corn row" hair style. This is accurately reflected by the images of the man in the car shown in State's exhibit 2. It was also corroborated by the testimony of both Officer Smith, who testified that this was the hair style the suspect had according to Cox. It was also the hair style of Hogan when he was arrested as well as at trial. R. 32.

Cox also testified that he was "in his little gray four door car." R. 43. This gray car can be seen on both the audio video tape and the still photograph of the suspect. See State's exhibit 1 and

2. In McClain v. State, 625 So. 2d 774, 778 (Miss. 1993), the Court stated that when the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged, the prosecution was entitled to have the evidence in support of its case taken as true together with all reasonable inferences. Any issue related to credibility or the weight of the evidence was for the jury to decide, not an appeal's court.

The three challenges by McClain (motion for directed verdict, request for peremptory instruction, and motion for JNOV) challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence. Since each requires consideration of the evidence before the court when made, this Court properly reviews the ruling on the last occasion the challenge was made in the trial court. This occurred when the Circuit Court overruled McClain's motion for JNOV. Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 807-08 (Miss. 1987). In appeals from an overruled motion for JNOV, the sufficiency of the evidence as a matter of law is viewed and tested in a light most favorable to the State. Esparaza v. State, 595 So. 2d 418, 426 (Miss, 1992); Wetz at 808; Harveston v. State, 493 So. 2d 365, 370 (Miss. 1986);...The credible evidence consistent with McClain's guilt must be accepted as true, Spikes v. State, 302 So. 2d 250, 251 (Miss. 1974). The prosecution must be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. Wetz, at 808, Hammond v. State, 465 So. 2d 1031, 1035 (Miss. 1985); May at 781. Matters regarding the weight and credibility of the evidence are to be resolved by the jury. Neal v. State, 451 So. 2d 743, 758 (Miss. 1984);...We are authorized to reverse only where, with respect to one or more of the elements of the offense charged, the evidence so considered is such that reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty. Wetz at 808; Harveston at 370; Fisher v. State, 481 So. 2d 203, 212 (Miss. 1985).

When the evidence presented by the prosecution was taken as true with reasonable inferences, there was more than sufficient, credible partially corroborated evidence in support of Hogan's conviction for sale of cocaine. Hogan was identified by Mr. Cox as the person from whom he purchased \$100.00 worth of cocaine. R. 52-53 . He testified that the person seen on the video receiving \$100.00 in ex-change for the alleged cocaine was Mr. Hogan. R. 51-52. Cox described the suspects' hair style accurately as being in "corn rows" or braided. R. 46. Cox testified that state's exhibit 1 and 2 were "accurate" video images of the alleged sale of cocaine. R. 48-50. Cox testified that the man with the corn rows was also "in a gray four door car." R. 43. It can be seen on the video and on a still photograph of the suspect, state's exhibit 2. The jury viewed these exhibits

during the trial and in their deliberations. R. 50.

Officer Smith corroborated Cox in many particulars. He testified that Cox received a call from someone using telephone number "662-719-6319." He heard Cox request crack cocaine. R. 19. Cox testified that he called this same number for instructions for where to meet the man with the alleged cocaine. R. 42-43.

He testified, and the video shows a black male with braids in his hair, who handed something to Cox in exchange for the money that can be seen on the video. R. 46.

In the instant cause, the trial court denied a motion for a directed verdict. R. 57-58. The court found the prosecution had presented sufficient evidence for establishing all the elements of sale of cocaine. There was credible, corroborated evidence from which it was reasonable to infer that on April 23,209 in Bolivar County, Hogan sold cocaine to informant, Cox.

After being advised of his rights, Hogan chose not to testify. R. 59. Therefore, there was no evidence contesting the testimony and supporting evidence presented by the prosecution.

In Doby v. State, 532 So. 2d 584, 591 (Miss. 1988), the Court stated that the "uncorroborated

testimony of a single witness" was sufficient for supporting a conviction.

With this reasoning in mind, the Court holds that the testimony of Conner was legally sufficient to support Doby's conviction for the sale of cocaine. This Court recognizes the rule that persons may be found guilty on the uncorroborated testimony of a single witness. See **Ragland v. State**, 403 So. 2d 146 (Miss. 1981);..

In Jones v. State, 635 So. 2d 884, 887 (Miss. 1994), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated

that a motion for a new trial should be denied unless doing so would result in an "unconscionable

injustice."

Our scope of review is well established regarding challenges to the weight of the evidence issue. Procedurally, such challenges contend that defendant's motion for new trial should have been granted. Miss. Unif. Crim. R. of Cir. Ct. Prac. 5.16. The decision to grant a new trial rests in the sound discretion of the trial court, and the

motion should not be granted except to prevent "an unconscionable injustice." Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 812 (Miss. 1987). We must consider all the evidence, not just that supporting the case for the prosecution, in the light most consistent with the verdict." Jackson v. State, 580 So. 2d 1217, 1219 (Miss. 1991), and then reverse only on the basis of abuse of discretion.

The appellee would submit that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying peremptory instructions. R. 57-58. In the instant cause, the informant was corroborated not only by Officer Joe Smith, but also by the DVD which was an audio and video tape recording of the transaction , and by a photograph of the suspect. This was the man who allegedly sold something which looked like cocaine for \$100.00 to the informant. That substance was found by monitored scientific tests to be cocaine. R. 9 ; 46.

The record reflects that testimony from forensic expert, Mr. Frazure, Officer Smith and informant Cox provided evidence of a complete chain of custody. R. 7-9; 32; 44. There was no evidence indicating that the suspected cocaine had been "tampered with" or altered by anyone prior to it being tested in a monitored scientific laboratory.

Therefore, the appellee would submit there was no injustice involved in denying Hogan a motion for a new trial. C.P. 40.

The appellee would submit that this issue is lacking in merit.

13

CONCLUSION

Mr. Hogan's conviction should be affirmed for the reasons cited in this brief.